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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

FORT MYERS DIVISION 
 

 
MATTHEW C. RINGSMUTH, individually  
and on behalf of all others similarly situated, 
 

Plaintiff,    CASE NO.: 
         
v.       CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 
        
REPP SPORTS, LLC., a Florida    JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 
limited liability company 
 

Defendant. 
_____________________________________/ 
 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Plaintiff, Matthew C. Ringsmuth, by and through undersigned counsel, brings this action 

on his own behalf and on behalf of a Class and Subclass of persons defined herein against 

Defendant, Repp Sports, LLC, and for his Complaint alleges, upon information and belief and 

based on the investigation to date of his counsel, as follows:  

INTRODUCTION 

1. This is a class action brought individually by Plaintiff and on behalf of all persons in 

the United States and the state of Florida (“Class Members”) who purchased the RAZE products 

manufactured by Defendant, Repp Sports.   

2. Defendant Repp Sports is a Florida limited liability company that hypes its products 

as providing Focus and Recovery. Repp Sports manufactures, distributes, and sells a variety of 

products, including its RAZE ENERGY product line.  Defendant sells RAZE products by deceiving 

the public about the product’s ingredients, potency, and the benefits of consumption.   
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3. Defendant touts the presence of the ingredients ALPHA GPC and Branched Chain 

Amino Acids (“BCAAs”), and the benefits of these supposed added ingredients. All of these claims 

are false. 

4. The energy drink market is a billion-dollar business enterprise that is lucrative for its 

market participants and is expected to further expand into 2023: 

 
According to a May 2017 report by market research group Mintel, U.S. 
energy drink and energy shot sales grew 5.8 percent in 2016, with still 
more room for growth. Analysts from Mintel forecast U.S. energy drink 
sales to rise 47 percent from 2016-2021, reaching a projected $19.2 
billion. …  In its May 2017 executive summary on energy drinks, analysts 
from Mintel wrote: “In a context where consumers are concerned with 

weight gain and overall health, the high sugar content, synthetically 

sourced caffeine, artificial ingredients and additives associated with 

traditional energy drinks pose a challenge to some traditional suppliers. 
This may lead some consumers to cut back on energy drink consumption 
and lead other potential users to seek more natural products, associated 
with less sugar and artificial ingredients.” …  Red Bull has responded to 
shifts in consumer attitudes towards energy drinks by expanding its range 
of sugar-free SKUs, after internal company research noted strong growth 
for low-calorie drinks. Sales of Red Bull’s sugar-free energy drinks were 
up slightly to around $727 million in a 52-week period ending on January 
28, 2018. “We also see overall beverage trends reflected in the energy 
drink category,” wrote the Red Bull Insights Team, in response to written 
questions. “Consumers are showing interest in flavors, sugar-
free/diet/zero offerings and natural and organic versions.1 

  
5. With knowledge of consumer demands for healthier, sugar free energy drinks, 

Defendant has intentionally created a marketing scheme for the RAZE products which is targeted to 

these consumers.  Defendant advertises its purported ingredients, potency, and effects on the RAZE 

products’ labels. 

 
1 https://www.bevnet.com/magazine/issue/2018/energys-evolution-huge-category-energy-drinks-
go-next. 
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6. Defendant intends to deceive consumers into believing that RAZE products contain 

the ingredients and effective amounts of Alpha GPC and BCAAs, and the alleged benefits from 

them. 

7. Plaintiff and members of the classes purchased the RAZE products for their 

ingredients, potency, and effects, and paid a premium for Defendant’s products over comparable 

products which were not promoted with the misrepresentations at issue here.   

8. Defendant’s representations concerning RAZE energy drinks are unfair, unlawful, 

and fraudulent, and have the tendency or capacity to deceive or confuse reasonable consumers.  As 

such, Defendant’s practices violate the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, § 501.201, 

et seq., as well as comparable statutes of all 50 states and the District of Columbia.  Plaintiff also 

brings claims for breach of express warranty, unjust enrichment, and violations of the Magnuson-

Moss Warranty Act. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

9. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant.  Defendant purposefully avails 

itself of the Florida consumer market and distributes RAZE products to numerous locations within 

this County and thousands of retail locations throughout Florida, where RAZE products are 

purchased by thousands of consumers every day. Defendant is also organized within the State of 

Florida and maintains its principal place of business in Florida. 

10. This Court has original subject-matter jurisdiction over this proposed class action 

pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), which, under the provisions of the Class Action Fairness Act 

(“CAFA”), explicitly provides for the original jurisdiction of the federal courts in any class action 

in which at least 100 members are in the proposed plaintiff class, any member of the plaintiff class 

is a citizen of a State different from any defendant, and the matter in controversy exceeds the sum 
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of $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.  Plaintiff alleges that the total claims of individual 

members of the proposed Class (as defined herein) are well in excess of $5,000,000.00 in the 

aggregate, exclusive of interest and costs. 

11. Venue is proper in this District under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(a).  Plaintiff resides in this 

District and purchased RAZE Products in this District, substantial acts in furtherance of the alleged 

improper conduct, including the dissemination of false and misleading information regarding the 

nature, quality, and/or ingredients of the products, occurred within this District and the Defendant 

conducts business in this District.     

PARTIES 

12. Plaintiff Matthew C. Ringsmuth is a resident and citizen of Lee County, Florida.  In 

April 2019, Plaintiff purchased a 12-pack of RAZE Phantom Freeze from a GNC located in Lee 

County, Florida.   

13. Prior to purchasing the RAZE product, Plaintiff read and relied on the representations 

contained on the product packaging, and relied on the representation and warranty that the product 

would provide certain ingredients, health and wellness benefits.  

14. Specifically, prior to purchasing, Plaintiff read and relied on each of the following 

statements: 

a. “BCAA AMINOS”;   

b. “(F)ocus A Powerful nootropic blend featuring Alpha GPC delivers crystalline focus 

& mental clarity without the crash. Find your flow.”; and 

c. “(R)ecovery Fortified with restorative branched-chain amino acids (BCAAs), Raze 

supports physical and mental recovery.” 
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15. Plaintiff was deceived and misled by the above misrepresentations into believing that 

RAZE products contained sufficient amounts of Alpha-GPC and BCAAs to provide the mental and 

physical benefits. 

16. Plaintiff purchased RAZE Products at a substantial price premium and would not 

have bought the Products had he known that the labeling and marketing he relied on was false, 

misleading, deceptive and unfair.    

17. Defendant, Repp Sports, LLC, is a Florida limited liability company with its principal 

address located at 975 Bennett Drive, Longwood, Florida 32750.  

18. Defendant, Repp Sports, manufactures, designs, markets and distributes various 

nutritional supplement products through Repp Sports’ website and in retail stores throughout Florida 

and across the United States.  At all times material, Repp Sports knew that the labeling of RAZE 

products was false and misleading to a reasonable consumer, because they contain either no amount 

of the challenged ingredients or amounts too low to have any pharmacological effect.  

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

19. Products at issue (“the Products”):  Defendant manufactures, distributes, 

advertises and sells RAZE branded energy drinks, which for all relevant purposes are identical, apart 

from the flavors, which include: Voodoo; Apollo; Galaxy Burst; Guava Mango; Strawberry Colada; 

Sour Gummy Worms; Watermelon Frost; Grape Bubblegum; and Phantom Freeze. 

20. At all relevant times, Defendant has marketed the RAZE Products in a consistent and 

uniform manner relating to ingredients, potency, and effect.  Defendant sells RAZE Products on its 

website and through various distributors, including GNC. 

21. Ingredients at issue:  The challenged ingredients at issue in this action are Alpha-

GPC and Branched Chain Amino Acids (“BCAAs”).  
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22. After numerous samples were submitted to an analytical laboratory, the RAZE 

Products were shown to have “Non-Detectable” levels of Alpha-GPC and BCAAs. 

23. Defendant’s claims that Alpha-GPC provides focus and mental clarity are false and 

misleading based upon the lack of inclusion of the ingredient contained within the Products. Plaintiff 

and reasonable consumers would expect Alpha-GPC to be either included within the Products or at 

least at an effective level to support those claims. 

24. Defendant’s claims that BCAAs provide “physical and mental recovery” are false 

and misleading based upon the lack of inclusion of the ingredients contained within the Products. 

Plaintiff and reasonable consumers would expect BCAAs to be either included within the Products 

or at least at an effective level to support those claims. 

25. Further, BCAAs have been found to be ineffective at recovery at high levels of 

ingestion2. 

 
2 Fatigue, as assessed by a power output test on an erg following prolonged exercise (6-8 hours 
of skiing) failed to demonstrate any anti-fatigue effect of BCAA supplementation. Bigard AX, 
Lavier P, Ullmann L, Legrand H, Douce P, Guezennec CY.  Branched-chain amino acid 
supplementation during repeated prolonged skiing exercises at altitude.  Int J Sport Nutr. 1996 
Sep;6(3):295-306;  
 
7g of BCAA ingested 1 hour prior to a treadmill test (soccer practice simulation) noted that there 
were no changes on any measured parameter. Wiśnik P, Chmura J, Ziemba AW, Mikulski T, 
Nazar K.  The effect of branched chain amino acids on psychomotor performance during 
treadmill exercise of changing intensity simulating a soccer game.  Appl Physiol Nutr Metab. 
2011 Dec;36(6):856-62;  
 
A cycling exercise at 70-75% VO2 max in trained endurance athletes given 6 or 18g BCAA prior 
to exercise failed to modify time to exhaustion relative to placebo. van Hall G, Raaymakers JS, 
Saris WH, Wagenmakers AJ.  Ingestion of branched-chain amino acids and tryptophan during 
sustained exercise in man: failure to affect performance.  J Physiol. 1995 Aug 1;486 ( Pt 3):789-
94; 
 
A test protocol of small mountain climbing in older individuals noted that a 51g amino acid 
mixture trended towards but was not significantly better than placebo at reducing muscle 
soreness and fatigue. Shimizu M, Miyagawa K, Iwashita S, Noda T, Hamada K, Genno H, Nose 
H. Energy expenditure during 2-day trail walking in the mountains (2,857 m) and the effects of 
amino acid supplementation in older men and women.   Eur J Appl Physiol. 2012 
Mar;112(3):1077-86; and 
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26. Even more troubling is that the testing showed repeatedly and consistently that the 

Products contained the free form amino acids Glycine and Serine, which are not listed on the label, 

which is unlawful under State and Federal law. Plaintiff and Class Members do not expect 

undisclosed ingredients to be contained within the Products. 

27. Relevant time period:  All of the misrepresentations at issue here were consistently 

made at all times during the last four years, at least.  

28. Misrepresentations at issue:  Defendant made uniform misrepresentations about 

RAZE products that Plaintiff and all class members were exposed to. 

29. Examples of the product labeling are shown below:  

 
Estoche JM, et al. Amino Acids. 2019. Branched-Chain amino acids do not improve muscle 
recovery from resistance exercise in untrained young adults. 
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30. The misrepresentations described above also appear on Defendant’s website (where 

consumers can purchase RAZE products), gnc.com, and Amazon.com.    

31. Consumers lack the meaningful ability to test or independently ascertain or verify a 

product’s claims, especially at the point of sale.  Consumers would not know the true nature of the 

ingredients (or lack thereof) merely by reading the ingredients label.  Moreover, reasonable 

consumers, like Plaintiff are not expected or required to do research to confirm or debunk 
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Defendant’s prominent claims, representations, and warranties that RAZE products contain Alpha-

GPC and BCAAs or in sufficient amounts to fuel physical and mental activities.  

32. Pursuant to 21 U.S.C. § 321(f), the Products are “food” regulated by the FDCA.  

33. Defendant’s false and misleading label statements violate 21 U.S.C. § 343(a) and 

the so-called “little FDCA” statutes adopted by many States, which deem food misbranded when 

“its labeling is false or misleading in any particular.”  

34. Florida has expressly adopted the federal food labeling requirements of §343(1) 

and (a)(1) into state law pursuant to the Florida Food Safety Act (“FFSA”), Fla. Stat. § 500.04 (1) 

and (2).   The purpose of the Florida Food Safety Act is to “[p]rovide legislation which shall be 

uniform, as provided in this chapter, and administered so far as practicable in conformity with the 

provisions of, and regulations issued under the authority of, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic 

Act”. See §§ 500.11(1)(a), (i), 500.02(2), Fla. Stat.   

35. The state of Florida has adopted the exact language of the FDCA by stating, “[a] 

food is misbranded – (a) If its labeling is false or misleading in any particular way.”   See §§ 

500.11(1)(a). Accordingly, a violation of federal food labeling laws is also an independent 

violation of Florida law and actionable as such. 

36. Florida law also provides remedies, including private rights of action, for 

misbranding food under consumer protection laws, including the Florida Deceptive and Unfair 

Trade Practices Act, § 501.201, et seq., Florida Statutes, which broadly prohibits use of “deceptive 

acts or practices” in business dealings in Florida. 

37. The introduction of misbranded food into interstate commerce is prohibited under 

the FDCA and all state parallel statutes cited in this Complaint. 
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38. Plaintiff and Class members would not have purchased the Products or would not 

have paid as much for the Products, had they known the truth about the mislabeled and falsely 

advertised Products.   

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

39. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil 

Procedure 23. Plaintiff seeks to represent the following classes: 

a. The “Nationwide Class” which consists of:  all persons in the United 
States who purchased RAZE branded energy drinks during the class 
period (the “Class”).  Excluded from the Class are Defendant, and Repp 
Sports affiliates, employees, officers and directors, persons or entities 
that purchased the Products for resale, and the Judge(s) assigned to this 
case. 
 

b. The “Florida Subclass” which consists of: all persons in Florida who 
purchased RAZE branded energy drinks during the class period. 
Excluded from the Florida Subclass are Defendant, Repp Sports 
affiliates, employees, officers and directors, persons or entities that 
purchased the Products for resale, and the Judge(s) assigned to this case. 
 

40. Should the Court decide not to certify the Nationwide Class described above, 

Plaintiffs seek certification of the Florida Subclass. 

41. Plaintiff reserves the right to expand, limit, modify, or amend these class 

definitions, including the addition of more subclasses, in connection with his motion for class 

certification, or any other time, based upon, inter alia, changing circumstances and/or new facts 

obtained during discovery. 

42. The members of the Classes are so numerous that joinder is impractical. While the 

exact number of class members is presently unknown to Plaintiffs, based on Defendants’ volume 

of sales, Plaintiffs estimate each class numbers in the thousands. 

43. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact 

involved in this case.  Questions of law and fact common to the members of the putative classes 
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that predominate over questions that may affect individual class members include, but are not 

limited to the following:  

a. whether Defendant misrepresented material facts concerning the Products 

on the label of every product;  

b. whether Defendant’s conduct was unlawful; unfair; fraudulent and/or 

deceptive;  

c. whether Defendant has been unjustly enriched as a result of the unlawful, 

fraudulent, and unfair conduct alleged in this Complaint such that it would be inequitable for 

Defendant to retain the benefits conferred upon them by Plaintiff and the classes;  

d. whether Defendant breached express warranties to Plaintiff and the classes; 

e. whether Plaintiff and the classes have sustained damages with respect to 

the common-law claims asserted, and if so, the proper measure of their damages.  

44. Plaintiff’s claims are typical of those of other class members because Plaintiff, like 

all members of the classes, purchased Defendant’s Products bearing the representations and 

Plaintiff sustained damages from Defendant’s wrongful conduct.   

45. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the classes and have 

retained counsel that is experienced in litigating complex class actions.  Plaintiff has no interests 

which conflict with those of the classes. 

46. A class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient 

adjudication of this controversy. 

47. The prerequisites to maintaining a class action for equitable relief are met, as 

Defendant has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the classes, thereby 

making appropriate equitable relief with respect to the classes as a whole. 
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48. The prosecution of separate actions by members of the classes would create a risk 

of establishing inconsistent rulings and/or incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant.  For 

example, one court might enjoin Defendant from performing the challenged acts, whereas another 

might not.  Additionally, individual actions could be dispositive of the interests of the classes even 

where certain Class members are not parties to such actions. 

COUNT I 
VIOLATION OF THE FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES 

ACT, § 501.201, et seq., Florida Statutes 
(on behalf of the Nationwide Class and Florida Subclass)  

49. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, readopts and 

incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 48 as though fully set 

forth herein. 

50. This action is brought to secure redress for the unlawful, deceptive and unfair trade 

practices perpetrated by Defendant on behalf of Plaintiff and the Class members. 

51. Plaintiff and Class Members are “consumers” as defined by Florida Statute 

§501.203(7), and the subject transactions are “trade or commerce” as defined by Florida Statute 

§501.203(8). 

52. Defendant advertised, promoted, marketed, manufactured, distributed and sold the 

Products, which contain misleading statements.  

53. The Products are “goods” within the meaning of FDUTPA. 

54. The FDUTPA was enacted to protect the consuming public and legitimate business 

enterprises from those who engage in unfair methods of competition, or unconscionable, deceptive, 

or unfair acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce. 
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55. For the reasons discussed herein, Defendant violated and continues to violate 

FDUTPA by engaging in the herein described unconscionable, deceptive, unfair acts or practices 

proscribed by Florida Statute §501.201, et seq.  

56. Defendant’s actions of misrepresenting and omitting material facts regarding the 

Products constitute unconscionable, deceptive, or unfair acts or practices, and are immoral, 

unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous activities that are substantially injurious to consumers, in 

violation of FDUTPA.  Defendant knew or should have known that the Products contained 

misleading statements and could not be lawfully sold to consumers, and Defendant failed to 

disclose this information to consumers.   

57. Defendant’s actions of advertising, promoting, manufacturing, marketing, 

distributing and selling the Products containing the misleading statements constitute 

unconscionable, deceptive, or unfair acts or practices, and are immoral, unethical, oppressive, and 

unscrupulous activities that are substantially injurious to consumers, in violation of FDUTPA. 

58. In addition, the practice employed by Defendant, whereby Defendant advertised, 

promoted, manufactured, marketed, distributed and sold the Products containing the misleading 

statements constitutes a per se violation of FDUTPA under Section 501.203(3)(c) because it is in 

violation of the Florida Food Safety Act, Fla. Stat. § 500.04 (1) and (2), in that said Products are 

misbranded. 

59. Plaintiff and putative Class Members suffered damages when they purchased the 

Products. Defendant’s unconscionable, deceptive and/or unfair practice caused actual damages to 

Plaintiff and putative Class Members who were unaware of the accuracy of the labeling when they 

purchased the Products. 

Case 2:19-cv-00752-SPC-MRM   Document 1   Filed 10/17/19   Page 13 of 21 PageID 13



 14

60. Defendant’s affirmative misrepresentations, omissions and practices described 

herein were likely to, and in fact did, deceive and mislead members of the public, including 

consumers acting reasonably under the circumstances, to their detriment. 

61. Consumers, including Plaintiff and putative Class Members, would not have 

purchased the Products had they known that the Products contained misleading statements and 

could not be lawfully sold to consumers. 

62. Consumers, including Plaintiff and putative Class Members, could not have 

purchased the Products had Defendant disclosed to them and the consuming public that the 

Products contained misleading statements. 

63. As a direct and proximate result of the unconscionable, unfair, and deceptive acts 

or practices alleged herein, Plaintiff and putative Class Members have been damaged and are 

entitled to recover actual damages to the extent permitted by law, including class action rules, in 

an amount to be proven at trial.  

64. In addition, Plaintiff and the putative Class seek equitable relief, injunctive relief 

against Defendant on terms that the Court considers reasonable, and reasonable attorneys’ fees. 

65. Plaintiff and the putative Class reserve the right to allege other violations of 

FDUTPA as Defendant’s conduct is ongoing. 

COUNT II 
Breach of Express Warranty 

(On behalf of The National Class and Florida Subclass) 
 

66. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, readopts and 

incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 48 as though fully set 

forth herein. 
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67. Plaintiff, and each member of the National Class and Florida Subclass, formed a 

contract with Defendant at the time Plaintiff and the other National Class and Florida Subclass 

members purchased the Products.  The terms of the contract included the promises and affirmations 

of fact made by Defendant on the Products’ packaging and throughout its marketing and 

advertising, including the ingredients contained in the Products as well as their potency. This 

labeling, marketing and advertising constitute express warranties and became part of the basis of 

the bargain and are part of the standardized contract between Plaintiff and the members of the 

National Class and Defendant. 

68. Defendant purports through its advertising, labeling, marketing and packaging to 

create an express warranty that the Products contained specific ingredients. 

69. Defendant purports through its advertising, labeling, marketing and packaging to 

create an express warranty that the Products contained those specific ingredients in amounts that 

could reasonably be called effective. 

70. Plaintiff and the National Class and Florida Subclass performed all conditions 

precedent to Defendant’s liability under this contract when they purchased the Products. 

71. Defendant breached express warranties about the Products and their qualities 

because Defendant’s statements about the Products were false and the Products do not conform to 

Defendant’s affirmations and promises described above.   

72. Plaintiff and each of the members of the National Class and Florida Subclass would 

not have purchased the Products had they known the true nature of the Products’ ingredients and 

what the Products did and did not contain. 
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73. As a result of Defendant’s breach of express warranty, Plaintiff and each of the 

members of the National Class and Florida Subclass have been damaged in the amount of the 

purchase price of the Product and any consequential damages resulting from the purchases. 

74. On July 25, 2019, undersigned counsel sent Defendant a formal notice and demand 

for corrective action, via certified mail return receipt requested and U.S. First Class Mail, in 

compliance with  U.C.C. §§ 2-313, 2-607. A true and correct copy of the notice is attached hereto 

as Exihbit A. The notice advises Defendant of its violations of the Manguson-Moss Waranty Act, 

15 U.S.C. § 2301, et seq. and Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act, Fl. Stat. § 

501.201, et seq. as well as the specific representations and express warranties made by Defendant 

that are false, deceptive and misleading.   

COUNT III 
UNJUST ENRICHMENT 

(on behalf of the Nationwide Class and Florida Subclass) 
 

75.      Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, readopts and 

incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 48 as though fully set 

forth herein.  

76. Plaintiff asserts this cause of action on behalf of the Nationwide Class and Florida 

Subclass. 

77. Defendant’s conduct violated, inter alia, state and federal law by manufacturing, 

advertising, marketing and selling its Products while mispresenting material facts. 

78. Plaintiff and putative Class Members conferred a benefit on Defendant when they 

purchased the Products, which were not as Defendant represented them to be.  By its wrongful acts 

and omissions described herein, Defendant was unjustly enriched at the expense of Plaintiffs and 

putative Class Members. 
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79. Defendant’s wrongful conduct resulted in the unjust enrichment of Defendant, to 

the detriment of Plaintiff. 

80. Defendant has profited from its unlawful, unfair, misleading, and deceptive 

practices at the expense of Plaintiff and putative Class Members under circumstances in which it 

would be unjust for Defendant to be permitted to retain the benefit.  It would be inequitable for 

Defendant to retain the profits, benefits, and other compensation obtained from its wrongful 

conduct as described herein in connection with selling the Products. 

81. Plaintiff and putative Class Members have been damaged as a direct and proximate 

result of Defendant’s unjust enrichment because they would not have purchased the Products had 

they known that the Products contained misleading statements. 

82. Defendant either knew or should have known that payments rendered by Plaintiffs 

and putative Class Members were given and received with the expectation that the Products 

contained the stated ingredients and benefits. 

83. Plaintiff and putative Class Members are entitled to recover from Defendant all 

amounts wrongfully collected and improperly retained by Defendant. 

84. When required, Plaintiff and Class Members are in privity with Defendant because 

Defendant’s sale of the Products was either direct or through authorized sellers.  Purchase through 

authorized sellers is sufficient to create such privity because such authorized sellers are 

Defendant’s agents for the purpose of the sale of the Products. 

85. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s wrongful conduct and unjust 

enrichment, Plaintiff and putative Class Members are entitled to restitution of, disgorgement of, 

and/or imposition of a constructive trust upon all profits, benefits, and other compensation obtained 

by Defendant for its inequitable and unlawful conduct. 
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COUNT IV 

Violation of The Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq. 

(On Behalf of The National Class) 
 

86. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, readopts and 

incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 through 48 as though fully set 

forth herein  

87. The Products are consumer products as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(1). 

88. Plaintiff and Class members are consumers as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(3). 

89. Defendant is a supplier and warrantor as defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(4) and (5). 

90. In connection with the sale of the Products, Defendant issued written warranties as 

defined in 15 U.S.C. § 2301(6), which warranted that the Product did, in fact, contain “Alpha-

GPC” and “BCAAs.”  

91. In fact, the Products do not contain “Alpha-GPC” and “BCAAs.” 

92. Nor do the Products have effect on Focus, Clarity, and Recovery. 

93. By reason of Defendant’s breach of warranty, Defendant violated the statutory 

rights due to Plaintiff and Class members pursuant to the Magnuson-Moss Warranty Act, 15 

U.S.C. §§ 2301, et seq., thereby damaging Plaintiff and Class members. 

94. Plaintiff and Class members have been injured because:  (a) they would not have 

purchased the Products if they had known that the Products did not contain the represented 

ingredient content; (b) they paid a price premium for the Products based on Defendant’s 

Misrepresentations; and (c) the Products do not have the characteristics, uses, or benefits as 

promised, namely the represented ingredient content and efficacy.  As a result, Plaintiff and Class 

members have been damaged either in the full amount of the purchase price of the Products or in 

the difference in value between the Products as warranted and the Products as actually sold. 
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COUNT V 
INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

(On Behalf of the National Class, or Alternatively, the Florida Subclass) 
 

95. Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, adopts and 

incorporates by reference all allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as though fully set 

forth herein. 

93. Defendant has refused to act on grounds generally applicable to Plaintiff and other 

members of the Classes, thereby making final injunctive relief appropriate. 

94. Defendant’s conduct, as more fully set forth herein, both in the past and through 

the present day, has demonstrated a willful disregard for proven scientific facts in a clear attempt 

to sell a product that does not contain the ingredients Defendant represents it does. 

95. Defendant persists in its deceptive and unfair marketing and sales practices 

concerning the Products to the detriment of consumers across the country. 

96. If Defendant is allowed to continue with these practices, consumers-Plaintiffs and 

other members of the Classes-will be irreparably harmed in that they do not have a plain, adequate, 

speedy, or complete remedy at law to address all of the wrongs alleged in this Complaint, unless 

injunctive relief is granted to stop Defendant’s improper conduct concerning its marketing and sale 

of the Product.  

97. Plaintiff and the other members of the Class, are therefore, entitled to an injunction 

requiring that Defendant stop its unfair and deceptive practices relating to the marketing and sale of 

the Products, as alleged herein, including the effects thereof. 

98. Plaintiff seeks a Court Order requiring Defendant to do the following:  

  (a) discontinue advertising, marketing, packaging and otherwise 
representing that its Products contain ingredients that they do not contain; 
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 (b) undertake an immediate public information campaign to inform the 
Injunctive Relief Plaintiff and the other members of the Injunctive Relief State Class, of the 
truth about Defendant’s products and Defendant’s prior practices relating thereto; and 
 
 (c)  correct any erroneous impression the Injunctive Relief Plaintiff and 
the other members of the Injunctive Relief States Class may have derived concerning the 
nature, characteristics, or qualities of the Products, including without limitation, the placement 
of corrective advertising and providing written notice to the general public. 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Matthew C. Ringsmuth, individually and on behalf of other 

members of the Classes described in this Complaint, respectfully requests that: 

A. the Court certifies the Classes pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(2) 

and (b)(3), and adjudge Plaintiff and his counsel to be an adequate representative thereof; 

B. the Court enter an Order requiring Defendant to pay Plaintiff’s and 

other members of the Classes’ economic, monetary, actual damages (including multiple damages), 

consequential, compensatory, or statutory damages, whichever is greater; and, awarding Plaintiff 

and the other members of the Classes exemplary damages, to the extent permitted under the laws 

of each of the states implicated in this action; 

C. the Court enter an Order awarding restitution and disgorgement of 

Defendant’s revenues arising from its conducts alleged above, or any other appropriate remedy in 

equity, to Plaintiff and other members of the Classes; 

D. the Court enter an Order awarding injunctive relief as permitted by 

law or equity, including enjoining Defendant from continuing the unlawful practices set forth 

above; directing Defendant to cease its deceptive and misleading marketing campaign concerning 

its Products, and to disgorge all monies Defendant acquired by means of any act or practice 

declared by this Court to be wrongful; 
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E. the Court enter and Order awarding Plaintiff, individually and on 

behalf of the other members of the Classes, their expenses and costs of suit, including reasonable 

attorneys’ fees and reimbursement of reasonable expenses, to the extent provided by the law; 

F. the Court enter an Order awarding to Plaintiff individually and on 

behalf of the other members of the Classes, pre- and post-judgment interest, to the extent 

allowable; and  

G. the Court order such other and further relief as may be just and 

proper.  

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff, Matthew C. Ringsmuth, hereby demands a trial by jury of all claims so triable. 

Dated: October 17, 2019   Respectfully submitted, 

 By:   /s/ Jordan L. Chaikin                               
       Jordan L. Chaikin 
       Florida Bar Number 0878421 
       CHAIKIN LAW FIRM PLLC  
       2338 Immokalee Road, Suite 170  
       Naples, Florida 34110    
       Telephone: (239) 470-8338   
       Email: jordan@chaikinlawfirm.com  
     

Nick Suciu III (Pro Hac Vice Application 

Forthcoming) 
Stephen Cohen (Pro Hac Vice Application 

Forthcoming) 
BARBAT, MANSOUR & SUCIU PLLC 
6905 Telegraph Rd. Suite 115 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48301 
Telephone: (313) 303-3472 
Email: nicksuciu@bmslawyers.com 
Stephencohen@bmslawyers.com 

 
       Counsel for Plaintiff 
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